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I. General Information 
 
 

Location:    307 Brazilian Avenue 
    Palm Beach, Florida 

 
     Date of Construction:  1935  
 
     First Owner:   Harvey Mack 
      

Architect: Carlos B. Schoeppl & Arnold Southwell, 
Architects 

 
     Builder/Contractor:  Burnup & Sims, Inc. 
     Russell J. Burnup and Riley V. Sims 
 
     Present Owner:   Peter Heydon 
 
     Present Use:   Residential 
 
     Present Zoning:   R-C   
 
     Palm Beach County 
     Tax Folio Number:  50-43-43-23-05-002-0231   
 

Current Legal Description: Royal Park Addition South 120 Feet of East 
½ of Lot 23 and South 120 Feet of Lots 24 
and 25 of Block 2. 
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II. Location Map 
 

307 Brazilian Avenue 
 

  

III. Architectural Information 
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307 Brazilian Avenue is a Mediterranean Revival style house designed by 
architect Carlos B. Schoeppl and built by Burnip & Sims in 1935.  The two-
story dwelling is located on the north side of Brazilian Avenue one house east 
of Hibiscus Street in the Royal Park subdivision.  
 

The Mediterranean Revival style of architecture was popularized in Palm 
Beach during the Land Boom of the 1920s and is still considered the signature 
style of the Island.  The style is eclectic, incorporating architectural elements 
derived from the area around the Mediterranean Sea, especially Italy and 
Spain. In Palm Beach, the style was first popularized in 1919 by Addison 
Mizner’s design for the Everglades Club. The popularity of the style soared 
in the 1920s for both commercial and residential buildings, and though its 
popularity dropped off after the late 1920s Land Bust and the Great 
Depression, it remained a fashionable style in South Florida. In Palm Beach 
there are highly ornate and grand examples of the Mediterranean Revival style 
as well as more restrained versions on the smaller lots.     
 

 
 

307 Brazilian Avenue is a multi-level residence constructed of concrete block 
surfaced with smooth stucco.  The house has an asymmetrical plan with 
intersecting gable and shed roofs surfaced with clay barrel tiles and 
highlighted with exposed rafters. The main façade of the residence faces south 
and is comprised of one and two-story elements.  The tall one-story element 
on the east side is one-bay wide with a front-facing gable and a large window 
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comprised of four five-light casement windows recessed within the wall and 
scored stucco resembling wood detailing above. 1  The front entry to the 
dwelling is on the west side of this one-story wing, approached by a brick path 
but hidden behind the landscaping and a wood trellis which is comprised of 
heavy wood beams, brackets and logs.  To the west of the trellis is a one-story, 
one-bay wide garage, with a wooden garage door and a shed roof covered with 
clay barrel tiles.  
 
The two-story portion of the house is recessed from the front plane of the 
dwelling in two sections, each with side-gabled roofs.  Multi-light casement 
windows provide light to the second-floor bedrooms and there is a large brick 
chimney covered with stucco and topped with two distinctive chimney-cap 
exhaust fans.   
 

 
 
Throughout the history of 307 Brazilian Avenue there have been additions, 
alterations and repairs to the property. In 1936, shortly after the house was 
completed, architect Belford Shoumate designed additions to the garage, the 
kitchen and the den.  In 1956, Architects Paul Kohler and David Shriver 
designed a porch that enclosed part of the rear patio and substantially 
expanded the interior rear of the house.  In 1979, eight steel casement 
windows were replaced with aluminum casement windows. These changes 

																																																													
1	The	interior	of	this	one‐story	element	has	a	very	high	cathedral	ceiling	with	wood	beams.		
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were in keeping with the house’s original design and thus the dwelling retains 
its historic architectural integrity. 
 

 
Original Elevation of Main Façade (1935) 

 
IV. Historical Information 
 
The residence at 307 Brazilian Avenue was built in 1935 during the post 
Depression era.  By the mid-1920s, Palm Beach had become the winter resort 
of many of America’s most influential families.  Although a number of 
prominent Palm Beach architects designed large estates mostly in the 
Mediterranean Revival style for their very wealthy clients, demand for hotels, 
apartments and smaller residences grew as the Town was attracting upper and 
middle class residents and tourists seeking the Palm Beach climate and 
lifestyle.  Many of the smaller homes were taking their design cues from the 
larger estates and were being built in the Mediterranean Revival style as well, 
increasing the style’s popularity.  Residences such as 307 Brazilian Avenue 
were constructed in the heart of Cap E.N. Dimick and Harvey Geer’s Royal 
Park development.   
 
Cap E. N. Dimick, the first mayor of Palm Beach, and Harvey Geer, an early 
Palm Beach pioneer, formed the Palm Beach Improvement Company in 1908. 
Their Royal Park subdivision included 160 acres of land that contained jungle, 
sand and muck.  The area included present-day land from approximately 
Royal Palm Way south to Worth Avenue, and from the Atlantic Ocean to Lake 
Worth.  In 1912, it was decided that the area was to be developed in its entirety 
at one time.  A sea wall was built, areas of the land were filled in and graded, 
and the streets constructed. Lighting, water mains, electricity and telephone 
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lines were installed and a bridge was constructed to connect Royal Park to 
West Palm Beach at Royal Palm Way.   
 
Like much of Palm Beach, Royal Park was booming in the 1920s with both 
residential and commercial construction.  In 1925, a new multi-million dollar 
resort opened on the west side of Hibiscus Street between Australian Avenue 
and Brazilian Avenue.2  The new resort designed by well-known architect 
Rosario Candela was the Brazilian Court Hotel. The hotel became an instant 
hit, attracting many celebrities as regular clients.3 However, during the lean 
years of the Great Depression, hotel business was bleak and the Brazilian 
Court was sold in a foreclosure auction.4 But not all was lost, as the new 
owners were able to turn the hotel around by 1936, including adding a Treanor 
and Fatio addition that year. 
 
The residence at 307 Brazilian Avenue was designed by Carlos Schoeppl and 
developed and built by Burnup & Sims, contractors, in 1935 as a speculative 
venture for approximately $11,000.5  In December of 1934, Burnup & Sims 
bought a large tract at the northwest corner of Brazilian Avenue and Hibiscus 
Street with plans to build several “new and up-to-date houses within a 
conservative price range.”6 307 Brazilian Avenue was the first house to be 
built starting in January of 1935, followed by 306 Hibiscus Street in March of 
1935 and later 301 Brazilian Avenue in June of 1936.7   

During the Great Depression and shortly thereafter, commercial and 
residential development in Palm Beach was slow.  A February 1, 1935 Palm 
Beach Post newspaper article titled “Resort Construction Figures at Low 
Point,” stated that the totals for the month of January 1935 amounted to only 
$19,500 with the only large permit being the Burnup & Sims investment house 
at 307 Brazilian Avenue for $11,000. Burnup & Sims took a risk developing 
new housing in the post Depression era but the location of their lots was 

																																																													
2	The	Brazilian	Court	Hotel	is	directly	across	the	street	from	307	Brazilian	Avenue.	
3	Town	of	Palm	Beach	Historic	Designation	Report,	The	Brazilian	Court,	401	Australian	Avenue,		16	
February	1994.	
4	The	Royal	Poinciana	Hotel	closed	its	doors	in	1932.	
5	Town	of	Palm	Beach	building	permit	#2035	dated	January	7,	1935.	
6	“Resort	Properties	Bring	in	$50,000:	Contractors	Purchase	Large	Tract	for	New	Homes.”	Palm	
Beach	Post.	9	December	1934,	page	9.	
7	Carlos	B.	Schoeppl	designed	307	Brazilian	Avenue	and	306	Hibiscus	Street	as	speculative	houses	for	
Burnup	&	Sims.	Riley	Sims	lived	at	306	Hibiscus	Street	when	it	was	completed.		Edgar	Wortman	
designed	301	Brazilian	Avenue	for	property	owner	R.H.	Lee	who	purchased	the	lots	from	Burnup	&	
Sims.	
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superb and the beauty and climate of the Island enticed many to spend the 
winter season there, so their venture was successful. Housing and 
entertaining was on a smaller scale in the 1930s than during the boom times 
of the 1920s and Carlos Schoeppl designed the house to reflect that change.  

The first owner of 307 Brazilian Avenue was Harvey Mack who purchased 
the house from Burnup & Sims in 1937 for $20,000.8  Harvey Mack was a 
prominent printer from Easton, Pennsylvania and he and his wife Florence 
were part of the Palm Beach golfing community during their seasonal 
residency.   In 1943, Mr. & Mrs. Joseph J. Weed purchased the house from 
the Mack’s and wintered there for the next forty years.  Joseph “JJ” Weed of 
Larchmont, New York, built one of the top radio-advertising firms in the 
country.  While spending the season in Palm Beach, the Weeds were avid 
sailors and were often noted in the newspaper’s society pages.  The current 
and only third owner of the house, Peter Heydon, is a historic preservation 
advocate who purchased the house from the Weeds in 1983.  Peter Heydon 
and his late wife Rita were awarded the Ann Arbor Historic District 
Commission’s Preservationist of the Year award in 2008 and in 2016 the 
Preservation Network gave them a Lifetime Achievement Award. Michigan’s 
governor and legislators also recognized the Heydon’s “for their extensive 
community involvement and unwavering dedication to protecting Ann 
Arbor’s unique heritage for generations to come.”   In Palm Beach, Peter 
Heydon serves on the board of the trustees of the Preservation Foundation of 
Palm Beach and has been an excellent steward of his residence at 307 
Brazilian Avenue. 
 
V. Architect’s Biography9 

 
Carlos B. Schoeppl, a highly respected architect, born in 1898, studied 
architecture at UCLA, and worked in San Antonio and Houston, Texas before 
moving to Jacksonville in 1926 at the height of the Florida land boom.10 He 
established an architectural practice in both Jacksonville and St. Augustine 
from 1927-1929.  While in Jacksonville, Schoeppl designed some of the 

																																																													
8	Burnip	&	Sims	showcased	307	Brazilian	Avenue	in	their	1937	Palm	Beach	Post	newspaper	
advertisement.	
9	This	Biography	is	a	combination	of	biographies	provided	by	the	Boca	Raton	Historical	Society,	the	
Miami	Beach	Preservation	League	and	the	Preservation	Foundation	of	Palm	Beach.	
10	One	of	his	most	prestigious	early	houses	is	the	Johnelle	Bryan	house,	a	1925	Italian	Renaissance	
style	house	at	15	Courtland	Place	in	the	Houston	Courtland	Place	National	Register	Historic	District.	
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earliest Art Deco buildings in the city.11 Already a well-established architect, 
in 1929, Schoeppl left Jacksonville for Miami where “Shep” became well 
known for his luxurious mansions, many in the Mediterranean Revival style 
and built for wealthy clients along the “Gold Coast.” The story goes that he 
had a grand outgoing personality, a great interest in aviation and was friends 
with Howard Hughes and Eddie Rickenbacker.  In 1932, he partnered with 
Arnold Southwell and during their partnership, Schoeppl and Southwell 
produced “A Florida Brochure” highlighting their numerous commissions in 
the South Florida area.12 
 
During World War II, Schoeppl did his part for the war effort by designing 
military hospitals for North Africa and the Pacific Theater. In the 1940s he 
also established the Craftsmen’s Village, an artisans’ commune located in the 
Brownsville community near Miami International Airport. There he engaged 
wood carvers and old world craftsmen to produce beautiful custom made 
furniture and ironwork.   
 
After the war, Schoeppl created the “American Plan Service,” to mass-market 
“modern” homes employing the latest technologies and design theories-- 
many of these were constructed in Miami and Fort Lauderdale.  He did a 
booming business in South Florida constructing commercial buildings in the 
then popular Art Moderne style.  By 1955, Schoeppl and Associates had 
offices in Miami, New York, Dallas, and Los Angeles. The firm became 
known for its hotel and “motor lodge” designs throughout the United States.  
Schoeppl also became associated with the style now termed “Post War 
Modern” or “Mid Century Modern.”   
 
Some of the outstanding features found in Schoeppl’s designs are the fluidity 
of the homes floor plan and his excellent use of space. Many of his houses 
flow from room to room feeling much larger than they are because hallways 
were not incorporated into their floor plan, allotting the space to provide 
expansive rooms. His residences also featured colored designed tile patterns 
by fireplaces, coral floors, terraces, beamed ceilings, and decorative ironwork. 

																																																													
11	Some of these buildings included the downtown Chevrolet Building at 1100 North Main Street 
(1928-1929), the Grace the Florist Building at 1612 Cherry Street in Riverside (1928) and the 
Thomas M. Palmer residence at 3790 Ortega Boulevard (1927).  	
12	Many of Carlos Schoeppl designed homes were built along the ocean, though many have since  
been replaced by high-rise buildings.   However throughout Miami Beach and along the bay front 

many of his homes still exist. 
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His well thought-out home designs remain undeniably stylish and classic to 
this day.  Carlos Schoeppl continued his career into the 1980s and passed away 
in April of 1990.  He was a prolific architect whose work helped shape the 
“look” of South Florida in the twentieth century.  
 
Builders’ Biography 
 
Russell J. Burnup and Riley V. Sims formed a construction and materials 
supplier business in 1929, which grew from a very modest start into one of 
West Palm Beach’s largest businesses by 1940. In 1929, they had little to 
invest other than knowledge of the building industry.  They owned a single 
truck and their office was “carried in their pockets.” The partners experienced 
with the rest of the country the low industrial level of 1933, but they kept 
plugging away, expanding and developing. In the mid-1930s, they designed 
and built 14 houses in the Hillcrest Neighborhood in West Palm Beach under 
the direction of Belford Shoumate. In the mid to late 1930s their 
manufacturing and merchandising interests expanded to include a ready mix 
plant for cement, a lime putty plant for plaster, a concrete block plant, a brick 
plant, a tug and two barges as well as a fleet of trucks.13  
 
VI. Statement of Significance 
 
307 Brazilian Avenue is a good example of a Mediterranean Revival style 
residence constructed during the post Depression era of the mid-1930s.  The 
residence exhibits many of the features that are characteristic of 
Mediterranean Revival style architecture as well as unique features by 
architect Carlos B. Schoeppl. 
 
VII. Criteria For Designation  
 
Section 54-161 of the Town of Palm Beach Landmarks Preservation 
Ordinance outlines the criteria for designation of a landmark or landmark site 
and suggests that at least one criterion must be met to justify the designation.  
Listed below are the criteria which relate to this property and justification for 
designation: 
 
 

																																																													
13	“Depression	Born	Business	Grows:	Burnup	&	Sims	Example	of	Possibilities	In	This	Section.”	Palm	
Beach	Post.	17	November	1940.	
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(1) “Exemplifies or reflects the broad cultural, political, economic or 
social history of the nation, state, county or town.” 

 
307 Brazilian Avenue reflects the broad cultural and economic 
spectrum of the post-Depression era of the mid-1930s in Palm 
Beach.  Although the frenzy of development and the real estate 
boom of the 1920s slowed with the Great Depression, nothing 
stopped in Palm Beach as it did in other communities. Building 
activity picked up as the 1930s wore on with development mostly 
driven by architects and contractors building on speculation, with 
the general tendency towards smaller and simpler houses.  307 
Brazilian Avenue was developed and built by contractors Burnup 
and Sims as a speculative house and they were successful in 
selling it at a profit.  The dwelling has only had three owners in 
its eighty-three years of existence, attesting to its fine design and 
excellent location in the Town of Palm Beach. 

 
(3) “Embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural type or 
is a specimen inherently valuable for the study of a period, style, method 
of construction or use of indigenous materials or craftsmanship.” 

 
The residence at 307 Brazilian Avenue, designed and constructed 
in 1935, is a good example of the Mediterranean Revival style of 
architecture popularized in Palm Beach during the Land Boom of 
the 1920s but continued in Palm Beach until the present day in 
many variations from very large and ornate examples to smaller 
and simpler representatives. The residence at 307 Brazilian 
Avenue embodies distinctive Mediterranean Revival 
characteristics including asymmetrical massing, multi-leveled 
barrel tile covered roofs, divided-light casement windows and one 
and two-story elements on different planes.  
 

(4) “Is representative of the notable work of a master builder, designer 
or architect whose individual ability has been recognized or who 
influenced his age.” 
 

307 Brazilian Avenue is a notable representation of the design 
work of distinguished architect Carlos B. Schoeppl.  In 1935, 
Schoeppl was a notable architect based in Miami Beach with a 
flourishing career.  His design of 307 Brazilian Avenue was an 
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inventive plan for a modestly priced speculative house to include 
a main room with a cathedral height beamed-ceiling, an 
appealing fireplace and well-proportioned rooms on the interior, 
and a distinctive exterior Mediterranean Revival style design.   
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